



A just coal transition in Indonesia: actors, framings and future directions

SEI report October 2023

Stefan Bößner Dimas Fauzi Pranita Rimal







Stockholm Environment Institute Linnégatan 87D 115 23 Stockholm, Sweden Tel: +46 8 30 80 44 www.sei.org

Author contact: Stefan Bößner stefan.boessner@sei.org Editor: Naomi Lubick Layout: Richard Clay Graphics: Mia Shu Cover photo: Coal mining, Kalimantan, Indonesia © Afriadi Hikmal / Getty

This publication may be reproduced in whole or in part and in any form for educational or non-profit purposes, without special permission from the copyright holder(s) provided acknowledgement of the source is made. No use of this publication may be made for resale or other commercial purpose, without the written permission of the copyright holder(s).

Copyright © October 2023 by Stockholm Environment Institute

DOI: https://doi.org/10.51414/sei2023.051

Stockholm Environment Institute is an international non-profit research and policy organization that tackles environment and development challenges. We connect science and decision-making to develop solutions for a sustainable future for all. Our approach is highly collaborative: stakeholder involvement is at the heart of our efforts to build capacity, strengthen institutions, and equip partners for the long term. Our work spans climate, water, air, and land-use issues, and integrates evidence and perspectives on governance, the economy, gender and human health. Across our eight centres in Europe, Asia, Africa and the Americas, we engage with policy processes, development action and business practice throughout the world.

Acknowledgements

Research underlying this report has been co-produced between SEI and IESR. The report has benefited from review and additions by Ilham Rizqian Fahreza Surya, Julius Christian, Martha Jesica Solomasi Mendrofa and Farah Vianda. The authors are grateful for the funding provided by the Ford Foundation for this project.

Contents

Abstract:4
1. Introduction
1.1 Methodology5
2. Historical political-economic context
3. Just coal transition in Indonesia: some theoretical
reflections8
4. Key actors and networks9
4.1 Government actors9
4.2 State-owned enterprises9
4.3 Coal mining companies10
4.4 Non-governmental and civil society organizations10
4.5 Finance providers10
4.6 Informal mining entities11
5. Framings of a just coal transition12
6. Main challenges in national and regional contexts
6.1 Economic barriers15
6.2 Socio-cultural barriers16
6.3 Technology barriers17
6.4 Policy barriers
7. Key recommendations
References
Annexes

ABSTRACT

Indonesia, the world's third largest coal producer after China and India, committed to becoming a "net-zero" economy by 2060 at the UN Climate Change Conference (COP26) in Glasgow in 2021. However, reaching this objective will be difficult, given the importance of coal for both the country's economy and power generation, but also necessary. Included in the many challenges are diverging visions of stakeholders as to how and sometimes whether to phase out coal usage, and how to follow a "just energy transition" pathway. This paper, based both on a desk review of scientific and other literature and on in-country stakeholder consultations, explores how those diverging visions and priorities might hinder a coal phase-down and, in the end, a phase-out of coal in Indonesia. In addition to exploring those visions, the report also sheds light on the socio-economic barriers to a truly just energy transition in the country.

1. Introduction

Throughout human history, coal has been both a boon and a curse. On the one hand, it literally powered the Industrial Revolution and allowed countries to make leaps in productivity and innovation, thus lifting millions out of poverty. Today, around 20% of all the energy we consume still comes from coal, topped only by oil (31%); non-hydropower renewable energy sources remain far smaller (6.7%; BP, 2022).

On the other hand, coal is particularly harmful to the environment and human health, releasing particulate matter and chemical compounds such as sulphur dioxide or nitric oxide into the air when burned, which causes a panoply of cardiovascular and respiratory diseases (Hagemeyer et al., 2019; Laney & Weissman, 2014). Indeed, Koplitz et al. (2017) estimated that around 20 000 people die each year in Southeast Asia from coal-fired power pollution, most of them in China and Indonesia.

Moreover, digging up the fuel from the ground usually allows for metals such as arsenic or lead to seep into groundwater and streams, affecting the livelihood of people living around mines (Hendryx, 2015), while simultaneously disfiguring a landscape and uprooting trees and vegetation, contributing to the destruction of biodiversity and to the increased likeliness of disasters such as floods (Fünfgeld, 2016). Coal mines also are often developed in conflict with local communities, where traditional land stewardship often clashes with the interests of coal and other mining companies (Mulyoutami et al., 2009), and burning coal for energy releases significant amounts of CO_{γ} , a major contributor to global warming.

Indonesia, like many southeast Asian countries, is no exception to this dichotomy of boon versus bane. Coal is economically important for the country, which is one of the leading coal producers globally (BP, 2022). According to the most recent report of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI), to which Indonesia is a signatory, coal and lignite mining accounted for around 1.8% of Indonesian GDP between 2019 and 2020 (EITI, 2022). Coal is also seen as a cheap means of bringing electricity to Indonesian citizens. As of 2021, the International Energy Agency (IEA) estimated that around 67% of the country's electricity generation comes from coal-fired power plants (IEA, n.d.). At the same time, environmental pollution due to coal mining and burning is ripe in Indonesia, as are other problems exacerbated by the coal mining industry, such as deforestation, displacement of people, or opportunity for corruption (Atteridge et al., 2018).

Against this backdrop, Indonesia recently joined the debate around "just transitions" away from coal (see Section 3 for a discussion about what constitutes a "just" transition). If global warming is to be limited to 2°C or possibly 1.5°C, coal would need to be almost completely phased out by 2050 according to the IPCC (IPCC, 2022). To address this challenge, the Indonesian government launched its Energy Transition Mechanism (ETM; PT Sarana Multi Infrastruktur, n.d.), identifying more than 15 GW of coal-fired power for early retirement. At the same time, in cooperation with donors such as the EU, the UK, US and Japan, Indonesia signed on to a Just Energy Transition Partnership (JETP), a USD 20 million investment partnership that should bring Indonesia in line with the Paris Agreement's objectives (European Commission, 2022).

These steps are promising, but the needed coal phase-out might be easier in theory than in practice. Coal industries are often highly entrenched in local communities where coal is much more than a fuel but a means of earning a livelihood, a lubricant to the political machine, and a source of revenues to build infrastructure and provide public services, particularly in Indonesia (Fünfgeld, 2016; Ohlendorf et al., 2022; Ordonez et al., 2021). That facilitates not only a certain "lock-in" of coal but makes a just transition away from coal also a very complicated endeavour that can only be unlocked by shared visions of all stakeholders involved on how to move beyond coal.

1.1 Methodology

This report sheds light on the complexities of energy transitions and coal phase-out in Indonesia, while at the same time analysing the diverging narratives and visions among involved stakeholders. Our research used a three-pronged mixed-methods approach. First, we carried out a scoping literature review, using the snowball technique to identify further papers. We focused on academic literature but used country reports provided by international organizations, such as the IEA, where appropriate to supplement our insights.

As a second step, we carried out a multi-stakeholder workshop in Jakarta, Indonesia, in October 2022, using the Participatory Impact Pathways Analysis (PIPA) method to elicit qualitative information from the participants. Those participants were placed into four groups: (i) government agencies; (ii) civil society, academia and think tanks; (iii) industry associations and (iv) international organizations. These groups discussed diverging visions and challenges when it comes to just energy transitions and coal phase-out in Indonesia.

To complement our research, we then went to East Kalimantan (a major coal producing region) and conducted fieldwork in the form of semi-structured interviews with 10 stakeholders from civil society organizations, local government units, and coal industry workers.

Using the insights of this triangular approach, we investigate which actors and dynamics might shape the transition away from coal and what barriers they might encounter. In addition, we describe the barriers and opportunities that lie ahead on any transition pathways.

This work is the fruit of several strands of research, which all focused on a bottom-up approach. We paid special attention to engaging with voices on the ground (coal workers, advocacy groups, local community representatives) and benefited from them sharing their experiences and their visions with us. This report enriches the debate on just transitions away from coal with first-hand experiences from the Global South, a perspective often underrepresented in global energy transition research.

2. Historical political-economic context

The history of coal development in Indonesia can be divided into five periods: the colonial era (1849–1945); early independence (1945–1965); the centralized era (1960s–1998); the decentralization era (1998–2009); and the contemporary era (2009 to present). During the colonial era, the first coal mining company, Oranje Nassau, started its operations in 1849 in Pengaron Village, Banjar District, South Kalimantan. A few decades later, another mining site was opened in Sawah Lunto, West Sumatra, that made Sumatra the key coal-producing region during the Dutch colonial era. However, the development of the coal industry during this period was limited due to the lack of demand and the shift to oil as the main energy source (Friederich & van Leeuwen, 2017).

In the early independence era, the Indonesian coal industry was centralized, when the newly established government nationalized Dutch coal mining companies and put them under the Bureau for State Mining Affairs (BUPTAN; Prijono, 1988). Given the political instability and lack of domestic demand, coal production did not increase significantly. The centralized political systems continued when the second president, Soeharto, came into power in 1965, which became the turning point for the coal industry in Indonesia. Following President Soeharto's power takeover, he pursued an outward-looking policy through trade and investment liberalization, including in the mining sector (Myint, 1984; Nalle, 2016).

In 1967, the government implemented what was called *Kontrak Karya Pengusahaan Pertambangan Batubara* or Coal Contract of Work through the enactment of Law No. 1 on Foreign Investment and Law No. 11 on Mining. Through the Coal Contract of Work, private companies were given a 30-year contract to conduct mining activities, from exploration to exploitation. Between 1981 and 2000, permits under the Coal Contract of Work were issued in three batches, with a total of 141 companies becoming permit holders (Lucarelli, 2015).

After democratic reform in 1998 and the change of government, Indonesia started decentralizing its governance systems through Law No. 22 on Regional Government. Consequently, the authority to issue mining permits shifted from the central government to the provincial and district governments through *Izin Usaha Pertambangan* or a "mining business permit" (Friederich & van Leeuwen, 2017), making the previous Coal Contract of Work scheme void. The implementation of both the Coal Contract of Work and *Izin Usaha Pertambangan* favoured domestic companies, including state-owned enterprises (Lucarelli, 2010).

The Mining Law (Law No. 11) was revised twice, first in 2009 and again in 2020, and those revisions expanded the types of entities eligible as mining businesses. However, when it comes to coal, local communities have been effectively banned from acquiring permits for coal mining activities, thus exacerbating the unequal distribution of benefits from coal mining activites. Table 1 presents some of the key differences of both versions of the Mining Law and its main beneficiaries.

As a result of these developments, coal production in Indonesia has been growing exponentially since decentralization in the early 2000s. After the enactment of the 2009 Mining Law, its growth sped up even more. By 2021, coal production in Indonesia reached 614 million metric tons per year, 12 times higher than the production in 1996 (Figure 1).

The Job Creation Law (Omnibus Law) enacted in 2020, which amends part of the 2020 Mining Law, offers incentives and centralizes authority for coal mining companies. For instance, they do not have to pay royalties if they develop coal derivatives, such as coke or coal gas.

This is in line with the government's plan to grow the coal derivative industries in the country, such as coal-to-liquids (or coal liquefaction) and coal gasification (Reuters, 2022). Moreover, the

Permit Type	2009 Mining Law	2020 Mining Law
Mining Business Permit (Izin Usaha Pertambangan)	CorporationsCooperativesIndividuals	CorporationsCooperativesIndividuals
Special Mining Business Permit (Izin Usaha Pertambangan Khusus)	 State-owned enterprises (Kementerian Badan Usaha Milik Negara, BUMN) Local government-owned enterprises (Badan Usaha Milik Daerah, BUMD) Private companies 	
Community Mining Permit (excluding coal)*	 Local communities Individuals Groups Cooperatives 	 Individuals living in the mining sites Cooperatives with members living in the mining areas
Surat Izin Penambangan Batuan (Mining Permit Letter)	Not applicable	 Village-owned enterprises (Badan Usaha Milik Desa, BUMDes) Domestic companies Cooperatives Individual companies

Table 1. Key permits according to the 2009 and 2020 mining laws

* While local communities can pursue other mining activities, the new law effectively banned them from coal mining activities.

Source: Hukumonline (2020)

Figure 1. Coal production in Indonesia, 1996–2020



Job Creation Law also limits local governments' authorities in coal and other extractive industries, centralizing control over the mining industry in the national government again.

Despite promised benefits of this law contributing when it comes to the creation of jobs, there has been strong resistance from public and civil society organizations because of the law's lax environmental and labour standards (Strangio, 2023). Civil society organizations challenged the law in court and succeeded in requiring parliament to revise the law (Constitutional Court of the Republic of Indonesia, 2021). In March 2023, the parliament passed Law No. 6/2023 that approved the government regulation to replace the 2020 Job Creation Law. However, the new law retains the original law's ease of environmental safeguards for mining and other business. For instance, a mining business does not need to conduct an environmental impact assessment (EIA) if a project is aligned with local zoning plans, but those zoning plans and policies are often non-existent, thus basically exempting the mining business from conducting an EIA (Hadi et al., 2023). Moreover, coal companies are exempt from paying royalties if they pursue value-added coal products such as coal derivatives (Nugroho, 2020).

3. Just coal transition in Indonesia: some theoretical reflections

Recent literature on energy transitions and on fossil fuel phase-out added questions of justice and equity to the debate. Originating in the labour movement of the 1970s and appearing in academic literature in the 2000s (Newell & Mulvaney, 2013; Stevis et al., 2020), just transition debates first focused on the implications of energy transitions for employment (McCauley & Heffron, 2018). Later, other aspects of transitions were taken up, such as environmental justice (Schlosberg, 2004) or energy justice, meaning equal access to energy (Sovacool et al., 2016). The uptake and development of the concept by various disciplines has resulted in a diverse set of definitions of and frameworks for just transitions (Wang & Lo, 2021).

Scholars argue that justice, in energy transition and environmental contexts, would have at least three dimensions: procedural justice, such as due process or multi-stakeholder participation; distributional justice, including redistribution of costs and benefits, which has been the focus of past just transition studies (McCauley & Heffron, 2018); and recognition justice, in the sense that one should recognize the diverse set of actors and interests in energy and sustainability transitions, as suggested by Elliott and Setyowati (2020). From an energy transition perspective, which is quite relevant in the Indonesian case, some scholars, such as McCauley and Heffron (2018), have argued for the inclusion of another aspect of justice: restorative justice, applicable for instance to former or abandoned mining sites.

In addition to those aspects of justice, it is important to keep in mind that not every actor has the same "power" and the same opportunity to influence transition pathways. When talking about power, agency and resistance to just transitions, two concepts might be useful to structure thinking: the multilevel perspective (Geels, 2002, 2011) and the concept of power itself.

The multilevel perspective uses three different conceptual levels: niche, regime and landscape levels. The landscape level is the highest level of organization, with the wider socio-economic context including political visions (ideologies) or macroeconomic patterns (Geels, 2011), such as, in the Indonesian case, international energy markets based on the capitalist principle of free trade. Influenced by this landscape is the regime level, or a set of stable norms, extensive networks, rules, regulations and infrastructure that support a certain system (Geels, 2011; Markard & Truffer, 2008). For instance, a centralized energy system based on large-scale coal projects would be an example of the current Indonesian energy regime.

New and innovative technologies have to compete with established ones in this regime. They do so from the niche level, where innovation is pursued, but which lacks the stability and the infrastructure and to a certain extent the norms and networks that act at the regime level (Coenen & Truffer, 2012; Geels, 2002). For instance, decentralized small-scale renewable energies (the niche) would need a different, more flexible infrastructure set-up compared to fossil-fuel generated power, yet the current set-up favours the current fossil-fuel–based regime.

Regime-level stakeholders might not necessarily have an interest in changes to the system, since the system as it stands guarantees their livelihoods and often they have invested great sums of money in the system's current form of function. Moreover, those regime-level players are often capable of mobilizing some significant resources to stabilize the regime and hinder niche technologies from competing. This ability to mobilize resources – from physical assets such as power plants and money to mental frameworks, including beliefs, visions and information – is what gives these actors power over transition pathways, as argued by Avelino and Rotmans (2009).

This points to an ideologic component of power, namely the ability to mobilize and to propagate a certain framing of an issue at hand. For instance, framing Indonesian coal industry as an important pillar of the country's economy might lead to different future pathways than framing it as an unsustainable environmental burden. For our study, we focus on the developments in the niche, regime and landscape levels, while we pay specific attention to power. We examine the mental resources, framings and visions that key actors in the Indonesian coal sector can mobilize and project (see Section 5).

4. Key actors and networks

The energy sector in Indonesia is influenced at several levels by a variety of actors, each having their own outlook on energy transitions. Studies generally confirm that some actors are more influential or powerful when it comes to influencing the direction of the energy transition in Indonesia, depending in part on their connection to the domestic policy sphere (Ordonez et al., 2021; Singgih, 2022). The following section presents some of the most important actors, as identified in the academic literature, as well as non-academic sources, and our fieldwork and workshop.

4.1 Government actors

At the government level, various ministries shape the energy sector. The Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources formulates policies and regulations at both the national and the local level (Naing, 2021). *Kementerian Badan Usaha Milik Negara*, or the Ministry of State-Owned Enterprises, functions as a shareholder and ensures efficiency and profitability of stateowned enterprises, while the Ministry of Finance and the parliament allocate subsidies to them (Marquardt, 2014; Ordonez et al., 2021; Tharakan, 2015). *Kementerian PPN/BAPPENAS* (the National Development Planning Agency) is responsible for the overall planning and development of Indonesia including the energy sector (Tharakan, 2015), which is translated into regional development planning at provincial and district levels.

Most of the energy policy is decided by the National Energy Council, which brings together the National Development Planning Agency with seven ministries – Energy and Mineral Resources, Environment and Forestry, Finance, Transport, Agriculture, Research and Higher Education, and Industry – and which is chaired by the President. Other important ministries are the Coordinating Ministry of Home Affairs, which is supposed to bridge the national and subnational governance levels, and the Ministry of Manpower (*Kementerian Ketenagakerjaan*), which is a relevant player when it comes to job creation. However, based on our stakeholder consultation, it is not fully clear whether those actors – the ministries of Home Affairs and Manpower – have a keen interest in energy transitions and whether their activities are aligned with coal phase-down strategies. Moreover, several issues, such as the lack of coordination between these ministries, have been raised by stakeholders (see below, Section 6).

For a short period, provincial and district governments issued mining permits for coal mining. The process was returned to the authority of the central government, due to the issuance of illicit permits at district level (Ordonez et al., 2021).

4.2 State-owned enterprises

Indonesia has a centralized energy sector dominated by state-owned-enterprises: Pertamina for oil and gas and Perusahaan Listrik Negara (PLN) for electricity (Ordonez et al., 2021; Tharakan, 2015). For instance, PLN has a quasi-monopoly on electricity distribution and owns most of the generation capacity (ADB, 2020). Independent power producers (IPPs) can sell power to PLN, provided they negotiate a power purchase agreement (Marquardt, 2014; Ordonez et al., 2021). However, IPPs find it difficult to get into the market because prices for electricity are capped by the government, usually below market prices (Schilling, 2022), with a general overcapacity of power generation and subsidies provided to players such as PLN. Indeed, in 2019, an estimated USD 4 billion was spent on shielding PLN from rising coal prices (Kurniawan et al., 2020).

With these subsidies and other protections, production from renewable energy sources often cannot compete with PLN prices (Kurniawan et al., 2020). Beyond reports in the peer-reviewed academic literature, government representatives in our workshop confirmed this barrier, as well as a lack of funding for "clean energy" (see Section 5 for more details); this could explain why only 21% of electricity is produced by IPPs (Maulidia et al., 2019), although plans to add capacity contain intentions to have more power produced by IPPs. One can see that PLN and the centralized market design play a key role in propping up the fossil fuel regime and in hindering the emergence of a competitive niche.

4.3 Coal mining companies

Both domestic and international mining companies can operate and obtain permits in Indonesia, although the big chunk of coal mining companies are now domestic, after international ownership passed to Indonesian companies. The three largest coal producers in Indonesia according to volume produced in 2020 are PT Kaltim Prima Coal (59.7 million tons), PT Adaro Indonesia (46.7 million tons) and PT Kideco Jaya Agung (32.9 million tons; Singgih, 2022). These three companies are privately owned and are well connected to the policymaking environment in Indonesia.

Many former government officials now work for coal companies, and many former top-level administrators in coal companies have gone into politics. The investigative journalist Viriya Singgih offers a good illustration of those networks of interconnections between the coal industry and the policymaking environment (Singgih, 2022). These observations are also shared in scholarly sources, which also report good connections between the coal industry and the political sphere (Mori, 2020; Ohlendorf et al., 2022; Ordonez et al., 2021). Past observations indicate that coal industry actors have rather high capacity to mobilize assets, such as money as well as people, especially at key positions in the governance sphere; past publications point to a powerful lobby propping up the fossil fuel system (Ohlendorf et al., 2022; Singgih, 2012).

4.4 Non-governmental and civil society organizations

Mining companies frequently have a conflictual relationship with local communities, which have increasing concerns over the impact coal mining has on their environment, health and livelihoods (Brown & Spiegel, 2017; Toumbourou et al., 2020). Against this backdrop, several environmental organizations are active in Indonesia. For instance, some advocacy-based civil society organizations (CSOs) have joined protests against mining projects.

Those CSOs and other non-governmental organizations (NGOs) play a crucial role in filling knowledge gaps of the general population when it comes to mining governance and energy transitions, by creating awareness of issues such as Indigenous rights or by assisting the local community to document the impacts of coal mining to support legal action (Brown & Spiegel, 2017; Naing, 2021). However, applying the multilevel perspective–power framework to this stakeholder category, we observe that this group of stakeholders is not particularly well placed to mobilize other resources or to challenge the fossil fuel regime, therefore having less power to change things themselves. Our findings are supported through interviews and the workshop held as part of this research project; see Section 5.

4.5 Finance providers

Finance for coal mining comes from both external and internal sources, such as foreign banks. China is the leading funder of Indonesian coal power, with China Development Bank and China EXIM Bank as the key financing institutions (Tritto, 2021). Approximately USD 118 million in coal mining investments have been made by China in 2007–2022 (NSWI, 2022). Apart from China, Indonesia has also received foreign investments from Japan, Korea, Singapore, Hong Kong and Malaysia; more rarely, the US and European companies have also invested. Tritto (2021) observed a pattern in these investments whereby Chinese institutions tend to provide the sole funding of projects or partner with Indonesian institutions, whereas other countries tend to practice cofinancing with foreign investors.

Existing literature generally reports a synergy between Chinese investments and Indonesian coal policies. For instance, Maulidia et al. (2019) suggested that China's coal demand has been influential on policies in Indonesia to further exploit coal, even more so than rising domestic demand. In the same vein, Mori (2020) argued that Chinese investors usually generate a "policy feedback effect" by partnering with Indonesian coal stakeholders, who then lobby the government to ensure favourable policies. For instance, when the administration of former President Yudhoyono restricted access of international investors to Indonesian markets, Chinese actors teamed up with the Indonesian coal industry to set up joint IPPs with PLN to sell their electricity to the state-owned company (Mori, 2020). According to Tritto (2021), Indonesia's attitude towards coal combined with economically motivated Chinese investors ultimately led to several deals opening up new coal mines, thus pointing to the powerful impact of being able to mobilize large amounts of capital.

4.6 Informal mining entities

Coal mining in Indonesia is not only done in official mines. Many illegal mining operations called *Penambangan Tanpa Izin* (PETI) or literally translated "Mining Without Permits" exist in regions such as East Kalimantan (Dutu, 2016). Local populations often refer to these activities as *tambang rakayat* (peoples' mines) or artisanal mining, since before the amendment of the existing mining law in 2020 (see Table 1), artisanal community mining was permitted under certain conditions (Singgih, 2021).

We found no peer-reviewed study in the academic literature that focused on illegal mining operations in Indonesia or on reporting statistics and occurrences. Journalistic sources suggested that 3.7 million people are engaged in illegal mining at 2741 locations, of which only 133 are located within areas officially permitted to mine coal (but the mines themselves are illegal), 480 are outside officially permitted areas, and the rest are not clearly attributable (Bhwana, 2021). While detailed information about the customers of those illegal mines is not available, Thomson and Finenko (2014) pointed out that an estimated 60 million tons of coal are illegally shipped from Indonesia to China every year, while many local enterprises, such as cement, iron or brick factories, seem to buy artisanally mined coal (Singgih, 2021).

The reasons for those artisanal mines are manifold. A surge in illegal mining started when the country faced a financial crisis in mid-1997. Due to a rise in unemployment and a drop in wages, people were forced to find other streams of income to supplement earnings from farming (Lestari, 2007). Lestari (2007) also indicated that the decentralization process marked by a sudden collapse of an autocratic system after the fall of Soeharto resulted in the weakening of law enforcement and to inconsistencies in between national and local government policies that eventually increased illegal mining.

Local populations around mining sites owned by companies often don't possess the necessary qualifications to work for mining companies, thus they seek employment in the informal mining sector. Also, local communities suffering from the negative environmental impacts of coal mining may seek a share of the profits that the official coal mines generate for their owners as some sort of compensation (Singgih, 2021).

Coal mined in artisanal mines is often cheaper than market price, which leads to increasing demand from this source. Often, miners must bribe local government officials with a share of their profits, which ultimately also contributed to widespread illegal mining (Dutu, 2016).

5. Framings of a just coal transition

As mentioned in Section 3, framings of a just transition away from fossil fuels play an important role in determining a country's policy direction on a potential coal phase-out. This section presents framings of key stakeholders mentioned in Section 4, including regional stakeholders that play a crucial role in managing transitions at the local level (Atteridge & Strambo, 2021), based on information gathered during our workshop and fieldwork (see methods, Section 1.1).

During the workshop, actors were grouped around four tables: government, CSOs and academics, private sector actors and associations, and international organizations. We asked each of the participating stakeholders to identify which aspects their work mostly focused on. To assist the mapping, we categorized the framings into four archetypes and put them into a quadrant: (1) technology or innovation, (2) environment or climate, (3) economic and (4) social.

While these categorizations are somewhat arbitrary, they were derived from the internal discussions between research teams from SEI and the Institute for Essential Service Reform (IESR) during the design stage of the workshop and are in line with past research. For example, Wang and Lo (2021) highlighted five themes in just transition literature focusing on labour issues, justice, technology, governance and public perception. The main assumption was that some stakeholders would be more concerned with the technology and innovation aspect of energy transitions (1), while others might be more concerned with the social aspects of transitions such as issues around "land-grabbing" or poverty alleviation (4). Some stakeholders might be more interested in the environmental and climate impacts of transitions (2), while other stakeholders might prioritize economic visions such as employment or tax revenues (3).

In the following discussion, insights are attributed to a specific workshop group, designated as "WS" with the stakeholder type: for example, WS Government Agencies. Figure 2 provides an overview of self-ascribed priority framings of participating stakeholders, with designations used throughout the rest of this report. For an anonymized list of interviewed stakeholders, see the annex.

Based on this visual representation of 22 stakeholders, it appears that a significant part of the just transition framing is concentrated in the "economic" and "technology" quadrant. Those visions are dominant among government and private sector stakeholders (Figure 2).

When it comes to the technology framing, government agencies prioritize the development of innovative downstream products of coal value chains, such as coal gas, liquid coal and other coal derivatives (WS Government Agencies). Such a framing reflects the ambiguity of government's commitment towards coal phase-out. On the one hand, power production from coal is to be phased down in the coming years, while at the same time, new coal power plants are expected to come on stream.

This ambiguity was also confirmed by interview partners (Stakeholders 6 and 7), who argued that the government would still see coal as part of their economic strategy, and particularly derivative products from coal such as briquettes, coke production, coal-to-liquid pathways and coal gasification pathways. This framing is shared by industry associations and coal companies, who see coal derivatives as a way to diversify their portfolios, a view that emerged as a recurring theme from the discussions (WS Industry Associations). As pointed out by some stakeholders, this is partly due to the lack of renewable energy alternatives and the lack of clear regulations on renewable energy deployment by the local government, as well as a lack of ("clean") technology and infrastructure (Stakeholder 2; WS Government Agencies).

At the national and provincial levels, government bodies and private sector players often employ an economic framing to energy questions in general and to issues concerning coal in particular (Jakob et al., 2020; Ohlendorf et al., 2022). Policy stakeholders in the workshop hailed from the national level; the framing exercise did not include stakeholders from the provincial level, but we



Figure 2. Just transition framings of national and local stakeholders in Indonesia

Source: Stakeholder workshop and interviews; authors' own information

asked the question through our interviews with provincial stakeholders and placed their positions in the quadrant (see Figure 2). The economic framings of stakeholders revolve around the impacts of a decline of economic activities from the mining sector, should coal phase-out policies be enacted, that might mean the loss of jobs and livelihoods in the coal-dependent regions (WS Industry Associations; WS Government Agencies). This was also a concern shared by the NGOs and think tanks.

The issues of upskilling and reskilling the labour force, as well as finding alternative economic activities for coal-dependent regions, were discussed quite extensively among almost all the workshop groups, except the national government representatives. Workshop participants opined that the upskilling and reskilling of the labour force should be combined with alternative economic sector development plans for coal production-intensive regions. Here, the representative of the industry association group in the workshop was particularly keen on investing in technological "know-how" on coal derivatives. When it comes to transitioning away from coal, both government and industry players would need to have access to research on alternative economic activities to inform their policies and decisionmaking, according to participants from the coal industry (WS Industry Associations; Stakeholder 2).

For government stakeholders, the framing was slightly different. For national policymakers, economic narratives are based on the premise that Indonesia has huge coal reserves with a domestic market obligation policy in place, allowing it to produce relatively cheaper energy (Jakob et al., 2020). Political promises to invest in public infrastructure also prop up this economic narrative, whereby political elites use coal revenues to pay for infrastructure and affordable

energy access as part of their election promise (Ordonez et al., 2021). In the interviews, regional governmental representatives expressed concerned with the potential loss of revenues in their annual budget and the potential increase in uncertainty for the large labour force that works in the coal industry (Stakeholder 3).

The socio-environmental framings of just transitions were dominated by the CSOs and international organizations that work at both national and local levels. The NGOs generally supported energy transitions to phase out coal, as they believe that coal has more negative impacts on Indonesian society than benefits, particularly for local populations (Stakeholders 4 and 5). Moreover, social equity concerns and environmental degradation from coal mining activities are those CSO stakeholders' main concerns. For them, the benefits generated from coal do not really trickle down to the local communities, given that many of the workers in the coal industry are from other provinces than East Kalimantan, where the stakeholder interviews took place (Stakeholders 4 and 5). They also acknowledged that a just coal transition should be done in a manner that will not perpetuate or recreate already existing inequalities.

Much of the CSO and NGO workshop discussion also centred on environmental degradation from coal mining activities. The group discussed the fact that there were a lot of post-mining sites that are left without proper reclamation, causing massive pits that are often filled with water. This is in line with findings in the literature (Toumbourou et al., 2020). Moreover, those abandoned mining sites, left untreated, continue to pose an environmental hazard for local communities living around those former mines. For these CSO and NGO stakeholders, just coal transitions should also consider how these abandoned post-mining sites are reclaimed and repurposed to benefit local communities. Some ideas of how to use former mining sites in a sustainable and economically attractive manner include the use of these sites for floating solar farms, reforestation, or the planting of crops and plants with high market value (Stakeholder 1).

The climate change mitigation aspect of a coal phase-out or a coal phase-down was not the main concern of any of the stakeholders. While the need to act on climate change mitigation was indirectly (and sometimes directly) acknowledged by the participants, and especially by the participants from CSOs and NGOs, other concerns such as equity or economic concerns seemed to dominate the discussions.

Also noteworthy is a seeming lack of intersection between the debates about technological innovation and its environmental impacts or the framings thereof. For example, even though the government and private sector actors are keen on developing coal derivatives as an economic diversification strategy, discussions about the negative externalities of this value chain pathway were rarely discussed in the workshop.

This absence of a well-defined environmental frame is especially concerning, as industry players consider coal derivatives as "eco-coal", which would emit less CO_2 than direct coal combustion for power generation. However, scientific evidence shows that coal gasification can only reduce carbon emissions if production sites for coal derivatives are equipped with strict carbon capture and storage technologies (Lu et al., 2019; Rao & Phadke, 2017). Moreover, this capture technology is costly to install, and there is no guarantee that industry players would invest in those solutions in the absence of stringent regulations.

As for liquified coal, this pathway emits a comparable amount of greenhouse gases to petroleumbased fuels (Jaramillo et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2019). In any case, coal technologies, however advanced they may be, are significantly more carbon and emission intense than energy generated from renewable energies. Therefore, continuing to invest in fossil fuel–based derivatives might be in contradiction with net-zero targets, which need a phase-down and, over the long term, a complete phase-out of fossil fuels in line with scientific evidence (IEA, 2022a; IPCC, 2021; SEI et al., 2021). Moreover, there may not be enough demand for coal derivatives, since producing them might be too costly in current market conditions (Peh, 2022). Analysing those frames and visions more closely and drawing on the multilevel perspective and power frameworks described above, several observations can be made. First, when it comes to energy transitions in Indonesia, mental frames of stakeholders seem to differ significantly. Government and industry stakeholders seem to privilege an economic and technological framing, while NGOs, think tanks and international organizations seem to place more emphasis on the social and environmental aspect of low-carbon transitions in general and coal phase-out in particular. Notably, while NGOs, think tanks and international organizations voiced concerns over environmental degradation when continuing down carbon-intensive pathways, they also worried about negative employment effects should coal be phased down.

Second, those players able to mobilize significant monetary and mental resources (e.g. government or private sector actors) are also those that seek to extend the lifetime of the fossil-fuel regime level. Indeed, visions of niche technologies in Indonesia seem to be not just renewable energies, such as floating solar farms on old mining sites, but also products derived from coal. So instead of replacing the fossil fuel regime with technologies from the renewable niche level, emphasis on coal derivates and finding new products from coal might perpetuate the fossil-fuel – or coal-based regime for the foreseeable future, with potentially negative impacts on environment and people.

Third, a few barriers and challenges must be overcome if low-carbon transitions and coal phaseout trajectories are to gather steam in Indonesia. The following section presents some of the main challenges identified through the workshop, interviews and literature review.

6. Main challenges in national and regional contexts

Besides the diverging frames, visions and interests that the stakeholders might have in transitions – or, on the contrary, in maintaining the status quo – several other barriers to just transitions exist, not only in Indonesia, but also in the Southeast Asian region and indeed globally. The following categorizations, based on our insights gathered from the literature review as well as from the feedback from stakeholders (workshop, interviews), put the issues laid out in the previous sections in a larger landscape-level context.

6.1 Economic barriers

Coal in Indonesia is an important economic factor. Traditionally, Indonesia has been an exporter of coal, mainly to China (Maulidia et al., 2019). Revenues from these exports are an important source of foreign currency for the Indonesian government (Gao et al., 2021), which is used to co-finance large infrastructure projects, one key election promise of current President Joko Widodo (Ordonez et al., 2021). However, coal use is also incentivized domestically. For instance, the Indonesian government has capped the price at USD 70 per ton for coal sold on Indonesian markets (Ordonez et al., 2021), thus deliberately building a local market after lobby efforts by coal stakeholders in the 2000s (Jakob et al., 2020).

Depending on coal prices, annual revenues for the government from the coal sector averaged around USD 2.17 billion (or IDR 31 trillion), or 1.5–2% of the national GDP, between 2015 and 2018, with coal revenues being much more important on the regional level (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). For instance, Ordonez et al. (2021) observed that around 80% of coal royalties would go to different district (sometimes called a regency) and provincial governments, based on a regulation that mandates a split of 16% to the provincial government, 32% to the producing regency and 32% to neighbouring regencies in the same province.

Indeed, during our fieldwork in East Kalimantan, provincial government representatives said that all mining activities, including quarrying, accounted for almost 46% of local government revenues

in the first quarter of 2022 (Stakeholder 1). However, one stakeholder argued that this money is often used to sustain a bloated bureaucracy (Stakeholder 4) and not necessarily used for projects of common interest, such as infrastructure. Similarly, while scholars found a statistically significant relationship between oil and gas revenues and economic growth on the provincial level, they did not find such a relationship for coal in Indonesia (Hilmawan & Clark, 2019). These findings point to an optimization potential for how government revenues from different economic sectors are used.

Workshop participants identified this economic role of coal as one of the main barriers to a just transition. Here, the challenge is to find alternative revenue streams to the income coal usually generates (WS International Organization). Finding alternative revenue streams might be additionally rendered difficult by the lack of capacity for governments to support nascent industries or renewable energies (WS CSO/NGO), which could absorb at least parts of the coal labour force.

Coal is an important employer regionally and subnationally, even though nationally, "only" an estimated total of 250 000 people work formally in coal- and coal-dependent industries in a country of a population of 250 million. For instance, in East Kalimantan the coal industry is said to account for 11% of jobs (Adiatma & Suryadi, 2022). For those fortunate enough to land a highly skilled job (administrative, engineering) at coal companies, wages in the industry can rival those of the start-up sector and often come with a long-term job guarantee (Stakeholder 6). Moreover, in addition to official employment, artisanal mining (see Section 4.6) in the numerous mines exploited without a permit is often an important source of livelihood for local communities.

Employment issues, including issues of job security, workers' rights protections, and the provision of reskilling and training services, composed one of the red threads throughout the workshop discussions (WS International Organizations; WS Industry Associations) if coal phase-out was to be successfully implemented. Similarly, policymakers will need to think about how to provide local communities with job opportunities outside of artisanal mining activities, particularly since some stakeholders were worried that coal is difficult to replace in terms of revenues and job opportunities (Stakeholder 1). As mentioned above during the workshop, interviewed stakeholders argued that afforestation, renewable energy (floating photovoltaic installations on former mining sites), agroforestry systems or high-value biomass plantations, as well as ecotourism, could fill this revenue gap (Stakeholders 1 and 2).

Lastly, the market structure in Indonesia is deemed an important factor in explaining the prevailing fossil-fuel-based regime level. For instance, Ordonez et al. (2021) reported that the Indonesian energy market is an almost quasi-monopoly in certain areas, such as electricity distribution, with PLN being the most important player (see above, Section 4). This coal-favouring market structure was also mentioned by several workshop participants (WS International Organizations), where PLN is bound via long-term power purchase agreements and capacity payments to take electricity from coal power plants. In addition, subsidies to fossil fuel consumption and price caps keep electricity prices low, which therefore helps to prop up the fossil fuel regime (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). Also, these make renewable energy less competitive, as renewable IPPs find it difficult to compete with the government-sanctioned electricity tariffs (WS Industry Associations).

6.2 Socio-cultural barriers

One interesting argument gathered from the literature review process was the fact that some stakeholders in Indonesia would not place much emphasis on socio-ecological reflexivity, i.e. the capacity to recognize, rethink and respond to new information and inputs, especially when it comes to climate change (Yanuardi et al., 2022). Analysing company documents, Yanuardi et al. (2022) concluded that Indonesian coal stakeholders often do not place much emphasis on issues such as transparency or sustainability and that only recently has this situation improved.

Therefore, without such reflexivity, a continuation of regime practices and business as usual would be deemed as much easier by stakeholders, which is also in line with comments made during the workshop (WS International Organizations).

Indeed, and as mentioned above, several workshop participants argued that mismatching narratives and mental frames would hinder low-carbon transitions and a coal phase-out in Indonesia. Several workshop participants argued that stakeholders would not have the right "mindset" when it comes to energy transitions and that their visions about where, when and how the country should transition away from coal were actually not well-defined, which would translate into a lack of motivation to change (WS International Organizations). Also, environmental priorities would be low, particularly among government and coal stakeholders, which speaks to the diverging mindset observation (WS CSO/NGO).

A similar observation from the workshop participants was that the public is not as informed as they would have hoped, nor does the public have the knowledge necessary about energy transition to drive change by demanding concrete actions and exercising pressure on the government to act. Therefore, one element of pressure – public opinion – is lacking to spur the government into action (WS CSO/NGO). In the same vein, the lack of communication about government plans to the local populations around mining sites, but also to the general population, was identified as a reason as to why energy transitions do not move forward in Indonesia (WS CSO/NGO).

Another barrier mentioned was the issue of corruption when it comes to the energy sector and the permitting process, not only for mines but also for renewable energy installations (WS Industry Associations). This issue was not only mentioned by workshop participants but also has been discussed in the literature (Boyd et al., 2010; Ordonez et al., 2021). Similarly, one stakeholder argued that oftentimes, mining permits were issued before local elections, thus pointing to the strong network of interdependencies between the private coal sector and local politicians (Stakeholder 4). As an interesting side point, one interviewed stakeholder argued that coal companies would often buy or found local CSOs themselves, which would then reach out to local communities to ensure their buy-in in new coal projects (Stakeholder 3). While this tactic could not be independently verified, it speaks to exploiting different visions and frameworks of different stakeholders (economic development versus environmental protection, for instance).

6.3 Technology barriers

Quite interestingly, several workshop participants also pointed to a lack of innovation and skills when it comes to a low-carbon energy and economic system that might replace the coal value chain. For instance, Indonesia has some significant reserves of minerals needed for the transition to renewable forms of energy – Indonesia is the world's largest nickel producer by volume (Purdy et al., 2022) – but the country might lack the technology and innovation skills to tap into the higher value end of the value chain, such as mineral refining (WS Government Agencies).

Recent academic literature also includes arguments that Indonesia's energy system might suffer from two technological barriers. On the one hand (and in line with workshop insights), skills and know-how are lacking when it comes to implementing those clean technologies that could replace the fossil-fuel-based regime. On the other hand, Indonesian energy infrastructure might not yet be ready for an increased share of renewable energies due to a lack of smart-grid applications, insufficient transmission capacity, and the inflexibility of the grid to accommodate high shares of renewable energies (Sambodo et al., 2022). For instance interviewed stakeholders argued that a better interconnection between the regions of East and South Kalimantan could offer some grid flexibility to accommodate more renewable capacity (Stakeholder 1). Moreover, as workshop participants have observed, regulatory frameworks and support policies for renewable energies might be either lacking or deployed suboptimally (WS CSO/NGO).

6.4 Policy barriers

Other barriers to just energy transitions in Indonesia are regulatory- and policy-related. Scholars have assessed policies relevant for the energy sector as "unwieldly" due to their frequently changing nature (Dutu, 2016), which is a general barrier to energy transitions (Setyowati & Quist, 2022). Besides the often-changing nature of regulatory frameworks, researchers also identified the lack of coherence between the national and the regional level as a barrier to energy transitions and renewable energy scaling (Maulidia et al., 2019).

This latter sentiment was shared by several workshop participants (WS International Organizations). For instance, the "recentralization" of certain competencies such as the issuance of mining permits and the absence of a concrete roadmap or action plan for a comprehensive energy transition (including a coal phase-out) resulted in even more uncertainty among stakeholders. In the same vein, stakeholders said during interviews that central government planning would not be translated into local initiatives due to lack of regional policies (Stakeholder 1). For instance, planning for renewable energy sources would be the remit of PLN, so the provincial government could only install renewables in off-grid communities. Furthermore, rooftop photovoltaic installations and the trading and distribution of electricity generated by solar power installations would be the remit of PLN and not the regional government, thus making the regional government dependent on actions on the national level (Stakeholder 1). Similarly, planning for renewable capacity would be the responsibility of the national government, which would hinder local development (Stakeholder 2). Therefore, more clarity could come from a clearly laid out roadmap to clarify the transition steps needed as well as the delegation of authority to the most appropriate actors, as noted by workshop participants (WS CSO).

Interestingly, this lack of coherence between the levels does not only affect the coal sector but was seen as a wider issue by workshop participants, who also argued that the policy incoherence and the lack of coordination applied to many other sectors, such as employment or industrial development (WS International Organizations), as well as by scholars reporting in the scientific literature. For instance, Sambodo et al. (2022) found that shortcomings in the governance sphere would hinder renewable uptake in Indonesia.

Sambodo et al. (2022) also noted that if Indonesia cannot replace coal power easily with renewables, that might further slow the transition to clean energy. Workshop participants shared this sentiment and argued that while there were renewable targets set by policymakers, concrete implementation (i.e. how to do it) would often be lacking (WS International Organizations). In the same vein, loopholes and ineffective sharing of competencies is said to be a contributing factor to the proliferation of illegal mines, allowing stakeholders to exploit those loopholes (Listiyani et al., 2023).

Moreover, Dutu (2016) found that land rights issues and lack of clear laws on who owns the land (a confusion oftentimes stemming from the colonial period) would hinder investment in energy infrastructure. Similarly, Brown and Spiegel (2017) argued that the current legal framework for land rights would favour local elites, thus making it difficult for local populations to have an actual say in how land is used. Workshop participants also argued that political influence and lack of political determination act as barriers to a just coal transition, since influential coal stakeholders would be interested in keeping the country's dependency on coal as the source of energy (WS International Organizations).

Lastly, lacking policies and the implementation thereof also affect the management of abandoned mines to avoid additional environmental damages. Indeed, proper rehabilitation of post-mining sites is insufficient according to scholars, which results in accumulation of acidic drainage and chemical deposits in abandoned mine pits (Fünfgeld, 2016; Naing, 2021).

It should be noted that the Indonesian Coal Mining Association has outlined plans for responsible mining operation to minimize adverse environmental impacts. Having said that, Dutu (2016) pointed out that a large amount of mining pollution reportedly comes from illegal mining operations, which was also in line with the insights from our interview with local stakeholders (Stakeholder 5). These mining businesses are often small and lack capacity and willingness to follow rehabilitation guidelines (Dutu, 2016). The regional government acknowledges that numerous small and illegal companies do not carry out reclamation work or bear any consequences of their polluting work (Stakeholder 3). However, local governments reportedly do not have authority over reclamation and rehabilitation issues, as this would be the sole responsibility of the mining companies (Stakeholders 1 and 3).

Moreover, the reclamation guarantee fund into which coal companies must pay when they get their mining concession and that serves as a collateral is transferred to the central government. When reclamation does not happen, there is no clear mechanism of how to get the money from the national government back to the local government. These negative impacts are often not "priced in", in effect lowering the price for coal artificially by ignoring externalities (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019); in other words, coal power is not as cheap as it seems.

Despite all those barriers, conflicting visions and negative environmental impacts, Indonesia has made some progress on just low-carbon transitions and coal phase-out. As mentioned above, the JETP and ETM are key steps forward, among other initiatives discussed in our workshop. See Box 1 for details.

BOX 1. CASES OF JUST TRANSITION IN ACTION

Since 2022, two major initiatives were launched to support coal phase-out in Indonesia: The Just Energy Transition Partnerships (JETP) and the Energy Transition Mechanism (ETM). Agreed during the G20 meeting in Bali, the JETP program includes a commitment by Indonesia and countries such as the US, Japan and several EU countries to mobilize USD 20 billion over the next three to five years that will be used to phase out coal and invest more in renewable energy. The ultimate goal of this program is to achieve 34% renewable energy in the market by 2030 in Indonesia, as opposed to 25% initially planned by the government (Koty, 2023).

Meanwhile, the ETM is supported by the Asian Development Bank (ADB) with an aim to help some of the country's coal-fired power plants retire early, and support a shift to renewable energy. The memorandum of understanding was also signed during the G20 Summit in Bali, provisions of which include the acceleration of the retirement of the 600 MW Cirebon-1 coal power plant (ADB, 2022). However, there is no clear sign that the Cirebon-2 power plant, located right next to Cirebon 1 and with much larger capacity (1 GW), will be shut down.

Apart from these large-scale initiatives, stakeholders at national and local levels have also been implementing various initiatives on achieving a just transition in the energy sector (Table 2). The list of just transition initiatives presented in Table 2 is not exhaustive and is based on the information provided by the stakeholders attending the workshop.

Туре	Just Transition Initiatives	Level	Actor
Awareness-raising	Campaigns on green jobs for the youth	National	Think tanks, academics, CSO/NGOs
	Awareness-raising on climate change and energy transition	National	Industry associations
Industrial partnerships	Partnerships with electric vehicle battery manufacturers to create domestic production	National	Governments
	Research on economic transformation in coal-producing regions	Local	Think tanks, academics, CSO/NGOs
Research	Research on governance issues and critical minerals	National	Think tanks, academics, CSO/NGOs
	Research on just transition's problem identification	National	Think tanks, academics, CSO/NGOs
	Stakeholder mapping for climate and environmental issues	National	Think tanks, academics, CSO/NGOs
	Research on policy readiness for just transition	National	International organizations
Stakeholder coordination	Bi-party agreement between companies and labour unions to mitigate transition impacts	National	Industry associations
Technical assistance	Technical assistance on coal phase-out in East Kalimantan and South Sumatra	Local	International organizations
Technology uptake	Hybrid mining equipment although with low level of uptake	Local	Industry associations

Table 2. Existing work relevant for just transition debates in Indonesia

Source: National workshop held on 13 October 2022; authors' own.

Most of the initiatives from these stakeholders are geared towards research on various aspects of just transition at the national level. This research bias is partly due to the stakeholders present at the workshop where we tried to elicit insights on existing just transition activities. Consequently, the mapped initiatives at the local level have been quite limited, partly due to the centralization of energy and mining authorities. Our interviews with local stakeholders in East Kalimantan and South Sumatra indicate that initiatives that can support just transition processes, e.g. renewable energy development and post-mining reclamation, at the local level are often hindered by the lack of implementation authority of local governments.

7. Key recommendations

Based on our three-pronged research approach – literature review, stakeholder workshop and stakeholder interviews – we offer some key recommendations that would lead Indonesia towards a more sustainable, just energy and coal transitions pathway. We observe five key points that could assist in a just coal transition in the country that merit further discussions.

- Economic diversification beyond coal is key to a just energy transition; such diversification must ensure equal access and benefits to local communities. While coal remains an important source of revenues for local governments and economic diversification remains challenging, our research has shown that benefits often don't accrue to local communities and stakeholders. This needs to change if the transition away from coal is to be successful, by offering economic alternatives to people working in the coal sector. However, some of the economic alternatives such as "clean coal" or nickel mining should be carefully examined, as they will probably lock in high emissions pathways (coal, especially in the absence of carbon capture and storage, will always be higher in emissions than renewables) or risk repeating past mistakes (simply exchanging one mining activity with another).
- The scaling of niche-level technologies, such as renewable energy sources, requires market support and better regulatory settings. Given the current market and barriers to entry for replacements for fossil fuels (IEA, 2022b; Kurniawan et al., 2020), levelling the playing field is key for renewable technologies. To compete with coal power and deliver lost-cost energy and electricity to Indonesian consumers, policymakers can work towards increasing market flexibility, adopting more impactful support policies for renewable energy sources, and streamlining investment regulation while doing away with bureaucratic hurdles that hinder renewable energy development.
- Education policies, capacity building and public information campaigns are needed to prepare communities for an economy post-coal and to get their buy-in for transition pathways. The change of the economy in coal-producing regions will eventually require skill upgrading of the local labour force to meet the technical needs of the new industries beyond coal (Stanley et al., 2018), as well as informational campaigns to inform people of economic alternatives and innovative, renewable energy solutions. Moving forward, a just coal transition should consider up- and reskilling of the local labour force that will support alternative economic sectors and activities in post-mining regions. In addition, public "ownership" of coal transitions should be increased by awareness and information campaigns, given that, so far, energy-related issues have been decided in a rather top-down manner without appropriate buy-in of local communities. Similarly, the capacity of policymakers, particularly on the local level, should be strengthened to adopt stringent coal transition policies that empower local communities.
- Governance barriers need to be resolved, particularly the lack of coordination between central and local governments, as well as the delegation of authority and monitoring. As indicated in the discussion, some changes in the governance systems in 2020 partly reversed the decentralization of decisionmaking power. As a result, local governments do not have the authority to initiate coal transition-related activities, such as renewable energy development, as now the central government has the authority to deploy renewable energy sources. While issues such as accountability, transparency and capacity might warrant a higher degree of centralization, it may be equally important to delegate some of the decisionmaking powers to local governments, in order to allow provinces to adapt the support for coal phase-out or renewable energy deployment to local needs. This is especially important to enable more "transition ambitious" regions and regencies to move forward more swiftly on a transition pathway, compared to the national average.

Clarifying the roles and responsibilities on coal transition through policy synchronization between central and local governments can be a start. Only if policy coherence is established can coal phase-down and eventually coal phase-out be successful. Moreover, stringent monitoring mechanisms should be put in place and national development plans should be brought into alignment with regional development plans (Lewis, 2015).

Interestingly, one workshop participant argued that the government could learn from the Covid-19 pandemic on how to improve coordination between the national and the local governance level. Apparently, the Covid-19 taskforce that coordinated the country's response to the pandemic was successful in coordinating different ministries at different government levels (WS International Organizations). Maybe, a "coal transition taskforce" might be established, copying the effective operational modes of the Covid-19 taskforce.

A better understanding is needed of power constellations that may hamper or support a just coal transition. Research should clarify these power dynamics, which could inform transition-minded stakeholders in building coalitions to counter entrenched forces that maintain the current fossil fuel regime. The fossil-fuel regime level is robust in Indonesia due to the importance of coal for the economy, the fossil-fuel-based "vision" of important stakeholders in the private and the government sector, and the good connections coal stakeholders enjoy with the political sphere. Understanding those power networks better and how they act and interact might give more transition-minded stakeholders insights into potential windows of opportunity and leverage points that could be used to drive a transition away from coal.

This better understanding should be followed by coalition-building efforts among non-state actors to demand for tangible policy actions to accelerate the transition away from coal. Instead of working in silos, non-state actors working together can push the just transition agenda; they can lobby policymakers and other relevant stakeholders to allow them a seat at the table to guarantee participatory approaches to policymaking, including a wide array of stakeholders.

These five key recommendations require that **all stakeholders consider justice on transition pathways.** Keeping the justice aspect of energy and fossil fuel transitions in mind can help translate these recommendations into reality. Economic diversification should ensure that not only the select few benefit from a transition, but that economic benefits accrue to the local population, particularly in former coal mining sites (distributive justice). Similarly, the increased uptake of renewable energies would lend itself to forming local energy cooperatives where power production is generated on site and cost savings help local communities. Training and education should also focus on former coal communities so that local people can benefit from learning new skills and trades. Coalition-building should focus on giving each concerned stakeholder a voice in the process of how energy transitions should be carried out (procedural justice) and recognize that every stakeholder might have a different vision for how to move beyond coal (recognition justice). And finally, government stakeholders should ensure that former mining sites are reclaimed and cleaned up by coal regime actors, thus contributing to restorative justice.

References

- ADB. (2020). Indonesia Energy Sector Assessment, Strategy and Road Map. Update. December 2020. Asian Development Bank. <u>https://</u> www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/666741/ indonesia-energy-asr-update.pdf
- ADB. (2022, November 14). ADB and Indonesia Partners Sign Landmark MOU on Early Retirement Plan for First Coal Power Plant Under Energy Transition Mechanism [Asian Development Bank]. <u>https://</u> www.adb.org/news/adb-indonesia-partners-sign-landmark-mouearly-retirement-plan-first-coal-power-plant-etm
- Adiatma, J. C., & Suryadi, R. J. (2022). Redefining Future Jobs Implication of Coal Phase-Out to the Employment Sector and Economic Transformation in Indonesia's Coal Region. IERS.
- Arinaldo, D., & Adiatma, J. (2019). *Indonesia's Coal Dynamics: Towards a Just Energy Transition*. Institute for Essential Services Reform (IESR). <u>https://www.climate-transparency.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/</u> IESR-Coal-Transition-lowres.pdf
- Atteridge, A., Aung, M. T., & Nugroho, A. (2018). Contemporary Coal Dynamics in Indonesia. https://www.sei.org/publications/ contemporary-coal-dynamics-indonesia/
- Atteridge, A., & Strambo, C. (2021). How Can Socio-Economic Transitions Be Better Managed? Lessons From Four Historical Cases of Industrial Transition. SEI Report. Stockholm Environment Institute. http://doi.org/10.51414/sei2021.009
- Avelino, F., & Rotmans, J. (2009). Power in transition: an interdisciplinary framework to study power in relation to structural change. *European Journal of Social Theory*, 12(4), 543–569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1368431009349830</u>
- Bhwana, P. (2021, October 14). Indonesian Govt Continues to Crack Down on Illegal Mining. <u>TEMPO.CO</u>. <u>https://en.tempo.co/read/1517067/</u> indonesian-govt-continues-to-crack-down-on-illegal-mining
- Boyd, M., Devero, A., Frias, J., Meyer, J., & Ross, G. (2010). A note on policies for the oil and gas sector. *Bulletin of Indonesian Economic Studies*, 46(2), 237–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00074918.2010.48</u> 6111
- BP. (2022). Statistical Review of World Energy 2022-71st edition. BP.
- Brown, B., & Spiegel, S. J. (2017). Resisting coal: Hydrocarbon politics and assemblages of protest in the UK and Indonesia. *Geoforum*, 85, 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2017.07.015
- Coenen, L., & Truffer, B. (2012). Places and spaces of sustainability transitions: geographical contributions to an emerging research and policy field. *European Planning Studies*, 20(3), 367–374. <u>https://doi.or</u> g/10.1080/09654313.2012.651802

- Constitutional Court of the Republic of Indonesia. (2021, November 25). Formal Testing of Law Number 11 of 2020 concerning Job Creation against the 1945 Constitution, 91/PUU-XVIII/2020. https://www.mkri. id/index.php?page=web.Putusan&id=1&kat=1&cari=91
- Dutu, R. (2016). Challenges and policies in Indonesia's energy sector. *Energy Policy*, 98, 513–519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> enpol.2016.09.009
- EITI. (2022). Report of EITI Indonesia 2019-2020. EITI.
- Elliott, L., & Setyowati, A. B. (2020). Toward a socially just transition to low carbon development: the case of Indonesia. *Asian Affairs*, *51*(4), 875–894. https://doi.org/10.1080/03068374.2020.1835000
- European Commission. (2022). Just Energy Transition Partnership with Indonesia [Text]. European Commission - European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_22_6926
- Friederich, M. C., & van Leeuwen, T. (2017). A review of the history of coal exploration, discovery and production in Indonesia: The interplay of legal framework, coal geology and exploration strategy. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 178, 56–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> coal.2017.04.007
- Fünfgeld, A. (2016). The state of coal mining in East Kalimantan: towards a political ecology of local stateness. *Austrian Journal of South-East Asian Studies*, 147-162 Pages. <u>https://doi.org/10.14764/10.</u> <u>ASEAS-2016.1-9</u>
- Gao, X., Davidson, M., Busby, J., Shearer, C., & Eisenman, J. (2021). The challenges of coal phaseout: coal plant development and foreign finance in Indonesia and Vietnam. *Global Environmental Politics*, 21(4), 110–133. https://doi.org/10.1162/glep_a_00630
- Geels, F. (2002). Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes—A multilevel perspective and a case study. *Research Policy*, *31*(8–9), 1257–1274.
- Geels, F. W. (2011). The multi-level perspective on sustainability transitions: Responses to seven criticisms. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, In Press, Accepted Manuscript.* <u>http://</u> www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6KKF-52890RW-2/2/ b84768abfe3e2d05f2830d753db4ac84
- Hadi, S. P., Hamdani, R. S., & Roziqin, A. (2023). A sustainability review on the Indonesian job creation law. *Heliyon*, 9(2), e13431. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e13431

- Hagemeyer, A. N., Sears, C. G., & Zierold, K. M. (2019). Respiratory health in adults residing near a coal-burning power plant with coal ash storage facilities: a cross-sectional epidemiological study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(19), Article 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16193642
- Hendryx, M. (2015). The public health impacts of surface coal mining. The Extractive Industries and Society, 2(4), 820–826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2015.08.006</u>
- Hilmawan, R., & Clark, J. (2019). An investigation of the resource curse in Indonesia. *Resources Policy*, 64, 101483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> resourpol.2019.101483
- Hukumonline. (2020, June 3). Amendment to the minerals and coalmining law: an overview. *Indonesian Law Digest*. <u>https://pro.</u> <u>hukumonline.com/a/It5ed74ace3616b/amendment-to-the-minerals-</u> and-coal-mining-law--an-overview
- IEA. (2022a). Coal in Net Zero Transitions. International Energy Agency (IEA). https://www.iea.org/reports/coal-in-net-zero-transitions
- IEA. (2022b). Enhancing Indonesia's Power System. Pathways to Meet the Renewables Targets in 2025 and Beyond. International Energy Agency. <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/enhancing-indonesias-powersystem</u>
- IEA. (n.d.). Indonesia. https://www.iea.org/countries/indonesia
- IPCC. (2021). Summary for Policymakers. In V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, & et al. (Eds.), Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis.
 Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Chan. IPCC.
- IPCC. (2022). Climate Change 2022. Mitigation of Climate Change. Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers. IPCC. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/
- Jakob, M., Flachsland, C., Christoph Steckel, J., & Urpelainen, J. (2020). Actors, objectives, context: A framework of the political economy of energy and climate policy applied to India, Indonesia, and Vietnam. Energy Research & Social Science, 70, 101775. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101775</u>
- Jaramillo, P., Griffin, W. M., & Matthews, H. S. (2008). Comparative analysis of the production costs and life-cycle GHG Emissions of FT liquid fuels from coal and natural gas. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(20), 7559–7565. https://doi.org/10.1021/es8002074
- Koplitz, S. N., Jacob, D. J., Sulprizio, M. P., Myllyvirta, L., & Reid, C. (2017). Burden of disease from rising coal-fired power plant emissions in Southeast Asia. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(3), 1467–1476. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b03731

- Koty, A. C. (2023, January 2). Indonesia's Just Energy Transition Partnership: Impacts for the Green Economy. ASEAN Briefing. <u>https://www.aseanbriefing.com/news/indonesias-just-energy-</u> transition-partnership/
- Kurniawan, R., Trencher, G. P., Edianto, A. S., Setiawan, I. E., & Matsubae, K. (2020). Understanding the multi-faceted drivers of increasing coal consumption in Indonesia. *Energies*, 13(14), Article 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en13143660</u>
- Laney, A. S., & Weissman, D. N. (2014). Respiratory diseases caused by coal mine dust. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 56, S18. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.000000000000260
- Lestari, N. (2007). Illegal Coal Mining in South Kalimanatan—A Mining Company Confronts PETI Operations through Engagement. ASM Asia Pacific. <u>https://asmasiapacific.com/wp-content/</u> uploads/2014/07/ASMAP-CS4_Arutmin.pdf
- Lewis, B. D. (2015). Decentralising to villages in Indonesia: money (and other) mistakes. *Public Administration and Development*, 35(5), 347–359. https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.1741
- Listiyani, N., Said, M. Y., & Khalid, A. (2023). Strengthening reclamation obligation through mining law reform: Indonesian Experience. *Resources*, *12*(5), Article 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u> resources12050056
- Lu, X., Cao, L., Wang, H., Peng, W., Xing, J., Wang, S., Cai, S., Shen, B., Yang, Q., Nielsen, C. P., & McElroy, M. B. (2019). Gasification of coal and biomass as a net carbon-negative power source for environmentfriendly electricity generation in China. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(17), 8206–8213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/</u> pnas.1812239116
- Lucarelli, B. (2010). The History and Future of Indonesia's Coal Industry: Impact of Politics and Regulatory Framework on Industry Structure and Performance. Working Paper #93. Program on Energy and Sustainable Development. Stanford University.
- Lucarelli, B. (2015). Government as creator and destroyer: Indonesia's rapid rise and possible decline as steam coal supplier to Asia. In M.
 C. Thurber & R. K. Morse (Eds.), *The Global Coal Market* (1st ed., pp. 294–374). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/</u>CB09781316136058.007
- Markard, J., & Truffer, B. (2008). Technological innovation systems and the multi-level perspective: Towards an integrated framework. *Research Policy*, *37*(4), 596–615.
- Marquardt, J. (2014). A struggle of multi-level governance: promoting renewable energy in Indonesia. *Energy Procedia*, 58, 87–94. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2014.10.413

- Maulidia, M., Dargusch, P., Ashworth, P., & Ardiansyah, F. (2019). Rethinking renewable energy targets and electricity sector reform in Indonesia: A private sector perspective. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 101, 231–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2018.11.005</u>
- McCauley, D., & Heffron, R. (2018). Just transition: Integrating climate, energy and environmental justice. *Energy Policy*, *119*, 1–7. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.04.014
- Mori, A. (2020). Foreign actors, faster transitions? Co-evolution of complementarities, perspectives and sociotechnical systems in the case of Indonesia's electricity supply system. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 69, 101594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101594
- Mulyoutami, E., Rismawan, R., & Joshi, L. (2009). Local knowledge and management of simpukng (forest gardens) among the Dayak people in East Kalimantan, Indonesia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 257(10), 2054–2061. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.01.042
- Myint, H. (1984). Inward and outward-looking countries revisited: the case of Indonesia. *Bulletin of Indonesian Economic Studies*, 20(2), 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/00074918412331334602
- Naing, K. (2021). Policy Memo on Environmental and Social Tradeoffs of Coal-Dominated Economy in Indonesia. ResearchGate. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Khant-Naing/ publication/359650494_Policy_Memo_on_Environmental_and_ Social_Trade-offs_of_Coal-Dominated_Economy_in_Indonesia/ links/6246db6f7931cc7ccf0b8051/Policy-Memo-on-Environmentaland-Social-Trade-offs-of-Coal-Dominated-Economy-in-Indonesia.pdf
- Nalle, V. I. W. (2016). Hak Menguasai Negara Atas Mineral dan Batubara Pasca Berlakunya Undang-Undang Minerba (State's Rights over Mineral and Coal after the Enactment of the Mining Law). Jurnal Konstitusi, 9(3), 473. https://doi.org/10.31078/jk933
- Newell, P., & Mulvaney, D. (2013). The political economy of the "just transition". *The Geographical Journal*, 179(2), 132–140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/geoj.12008</u>
- NSWI. (2022). Statistic of Foreign Direct Investment Realization by Country by Sector. National Single Window for Investment (NSWI). https://nswi.bkpm.go.id/data_statistik
- Nugroho, A. (2020, October 8). Omnibus Law: "Flawed" Procedure And Bad Impact For Natural Resources Governance | Lembaga Gemawan. https://gemawan.org/en/omnibus-law-flawed-procedure-and-badimpact-for-natural-resources-governance/
- Ohlendorf, N., Jakob, M., & Steckel, J. C. (2022). The political economy of coal phase-out: Exploring the actors, objectives, and contextual factors shaping policies in eight major coal countries. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 90, 102590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> erss.2022.102590

- Ordonez, J. A., Jakob, M., Steckel, J. C., & Fünfgeld, A. (2021). Coal, power and coal-powered politics in Indonesia. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 123, 44–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.05.007
- Peh, G. (2022). Indonesia's Downstream Coal Plans Add Up to a Black Hole: DME Is Economically and Financially Unfeasible. Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis (IEEFA). <u>https://ieefa.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Indonesias-Downstream-Coal-Plans-Add-Up-to-a-Black-Hole_January-2022.pdf
- Prijono, I. A. (1988). The role of the state mining enterprises in Indonesia with special focus on development of the coal sector. *Minerals* & Energy - Raw Materials Report, 6(3), 170–180. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1080/14041048809409919
- PT Sarana Multi Infrastruktur, I. M. of F. (n.d.). *Indonesia Launches ETM Country Platform*. Retrieved September 18, 2023, from <u>https://ptsmi.</u> <u>co.id/indonesia-launches-etm-country-platform-to-accelerate-just-</u> and-affordable-energy-transition
- Purdy, R., Blumenthal, L., & Purdy, C. (2022, September 21). Indonesia's electric vehicle batteries dream has a dirty nickel problem. *Brookings*. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2022/09/21/ indonesias-electric-vehicle-batteries-dream-has-a-dirty-nickelproblem/
- Rao, A. B., & Phadke, P. C. (2017). CO2 capture and storage in coal gasification projects. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 76, 012011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/76/1/012011</u>
- Reuters. (2022, January 24). Indonesia starts construction of \$2.3 bln coal gasification plant. *Reuters*. https://www.reuters.com/business/ energy/indonesia-starts-construction-23-bln-coal-gasificationplant-2022-01-24/
- Sambodo, M. T., Yuliana, C. I., Hidayat, S., Novandra, R., Handoyo, F. W., Farandy, A. R., Inayah, I., & Yuniarti, P. I. (2022). Breaking barriers to low-carbon development in Indonesia: Deployment of renewable energy. *Heliyon*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e09304
- Schlosberg, D. (2004). Reconceiving environmental justice: global movements and political theories. *Environmental Politics*, *13*(3), 517–540. https://doi.org/10.1080/0964401042000229025
- Schilling, R. (2022). The federal government's electrivity and gas price brake. Die Strom- und Gaspreisbremse der Bundesregierung - KPMG Germany. KPMG. https://kpmg.com/de/en/home/insights/2022/12/ electricity-and%20gas-price-brake.html
- SEI, IISD, E3G, & UNEP. (2021). The Production Gap Report 2021. http:// www.productiongap.org/2021report

- Setyowati, A. B., & Quist, J. (2022). Contested transition? Exploring the politics and process of regional energy planning in Indonesia. *Energy Policy*, 165, 112980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2022.112980
- Singgih, V. (2012, February 10). Unearthing Indonesia's 10 Biggest Coal Oligarchs. Project Multatuli. https://projectmultatuli.org/en/ unearthing-indonesias-10-biggest-coal-oligarchs/
- Singgih, V. (2021, November 11). Life and Death in Muara Enim, Indonesia's "Dirty Energy Barn." https://projectmultatuli.org/en/lifeand-death-in-muara-enim-indonesias-dirty-energy-barn/
- Singgih, V. (2022, February 10). Unearthing Indonesia's 10 Biggest Coal Oligarchs [Project Multatuli]. <u>https://projectmultatuli.org/en/</u> unearthing-indonesias-10-biggest-coal-oligarchs/
- Sovacool, B. K., Heffron, R. J., McCauley, D., & Goldthau, A. (2016). Energy decisions reframed as justice and ethical concerns. *Nature Energy*, 1(5), Article 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nenergy.2016.24</u>
- Stanley, M. C., Strongman, J. E., Perks, R. B., Nguyen, H. B. T., Cunningham, W., Schmillen, A. D., & Mccormick, M. S. (2018). Managing Coal Mine Closure: Achieving a Just Transition for All. World Bank Group. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/484541544643269894/Managing-Coal-Mine-Closure-Achievinga-Just-Transition-for-All
- Statistics Indonesia. (2022). Statistik Indonesia 2022 (Statistical Yearbook of Indonesia 2022). Indonesia Statistical Agency (BPS). https://litbangkespangandaran.litbang.kemkes.go.id/perpustakaan/ index.php?p=show_detail&id=4004
- Statistics Indonesia. (2023). Produksi Barang Tambang Mineral 2019-2021 (Mining Production 1996-2021). Indonesia Statistical Agency (BPS). <u>https://www.bps.go.id/indicator/10/508/1/produksi-barang-</u> tambang-mineral.html
- Stevis, D., Morena, E., & Krause, D. (2020). Introduction: The genealogy and contemporary politics of just transitions. In *Just Transitions*. *Social Justice in the Shift Towards a Low-Carbon Transition* (E. Morena, D. Krausem D. Stevis, pp. 1–31). Pluto Press.

- Strangio, S. (2023). Indonesian parliament passes emergency jobs regulation. *The Diplomat*. <u>https://thediplomat.com/2023/03/</u> indonesian-parliament-passes-emergency-jobs-regulation/
- Tharakan, P. (2015). Summary of Indonesia's Energy Sector Assessment. Asian Development Bank. <u>https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/</u> publication/178039/ino-paper-09-2015.pdf
- Thomson, E., & Finenko, A. (2014). Estimating the potential emissions from Chinese power plants that use coal which has been mined illegally in southeast Asia. *Energy Procedia*, 61, 2716–2720. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2014.12.286
- Toumbourou, T., Muhdar, M., Werner, T., & Bebbington, A. (2020). Political ecologies of the post-mining landscape: Activism, resistance, and legal struggles over Kalimantan's coal mines. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 65, 101476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101476
- Tritto, A. (2021). China's Belt and Road Initiative: From perceptions to realities in Indonesia's coal power sector. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 34, 100624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2021.100624
- Wang, X., & Lo, K. (2021). Just transition: A conceptual review. Energy Research & Social Science, 82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> erss.2021.102291
- Yanuardi, Y., Vijge, M. J., & Biermann, F. (2022). Social-ecological reflexivity of extractive industry governance? The case of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative in Indonesia. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 32(5), 426–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1988</u>
- Zhou, H., Yang, Q., Zhu, S., Song, Y., & Zhang, D. (2019). Life cycle comparison of greenhouse gas emissions and water consumption for coal and oil shale to liquid fuels. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 144, 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.01.031

Annexes

Annex 1. List of PIPA Workshop Groups

Workshop Group Name	Details
WS International Organization	International organizations working on energy transitions
WS Industry	Coal-related industry players and associations
ws cso	Civil society organizations, think tanks and academic institutions
WS Government	Government agencies

Annex 2. List of Stakeholders engaged during fieldwork

Stakeholder	Туре
Stakeholder 1	Local Government
Stakeholder 2	Local Government
Stakeholder 3	Local Government
Stakeholder 4	Local NGO
Stakeholder 5	Local NGO
Stakeholder 6	Mining Company
Stakeholder 7	Mining Company
Stakeholder 8	Local Government
Stakeholder 9	Local NGO
Stakeholder 10	Local NGO

Visit us

SEI Headquarters

Linnégatan 87D Box 24218 104 51 Stockholm Sweden Tel: +46 8 30 80 44 info@sei.org

Måns Nilsson Executive Director

SEI Africa

World Agroforestry Centre United Nations Avenue Gigiri P.O. Box 30677 Nairobi 00100 Kenya Tel: +254 20 722 4886 info-Africa@sei.org

Philip Osano Centre Director

SEI Asia

Chulalongkorn University Henri Dunant Road Pathumwan Bangkok 10330 Thailand Tel: +66 2 251 4415 info-Asia@sei.org

Niall O'Connor Centre Director

SEI Latin America

Calle 71 # 11–10 Oficina 801 Bogotá Colombia Tel: +57 16355319 info-LatinAmerica@sei.org

David Purkey Centre Director

SEI Oxford

Oxford Eco Centre Roger House Osney Mead Oxford OX2 0ES UK Tel: +44 1865 42 6316 info-Oxford@sei.org

Ruth Butterfield

Centre Director

SEI Tallinn

Arsenal Centre Erika 14 10416 Tallinn Estonia Tel: +372 6276 100 info-Tallinn@sei.org

Lauri Tammiste Centre Director

SEI York

University of York Heslington York YO10 5NG UK Tel: +44 1904 32 2897 info-York@sei.org

Sarah West Centre Director

SEI US Main Office

11 Curtis Avenue Somerville MA 02144-1224 USA Tel: +1 617 627 3786 info-US@sei.org

Michael Lazarus Centre Director

SEI US Davis Office

501 Second Street Davis CA 95616 USA Tel: +1 530 753 3035

SEI US Seattle Office

1402 Third Avenue Suite 925 Seattle WA 98101 USA Tel: +1 206 547 4000



sei.org @SEIresearch @SEIclimate